
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

January 15th, 2013 6:00 pm 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Joe Brannen 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Gary Lewis 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations  
 

A) Network Engineer Bryant Tatum would like to update Council on the Public Works 
Freeance project. 

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) January 03, 2013 Council Minutes 
 

B) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-01: A Resolution to Fix and  
      Publish Qualifying Fees for the City of Statesboro November 5, 2013 General 

                  Election 
 

C) Consideration of a Motion for the surplus and disposal of a 1997 Ford F800 loader 
     truck in the Sanitation Division 
 
D) Notification of alcohol license application: 

a)  Licensee: Daniel Long 
DBA:  Eagle Creek Brewing Company LLC 
Location:  106 Savannah Avenue (Changing from 403 South Zetterower Avenue) 
Type of Alcohol License:  Manufacturing 
Type of Business:  Brewery (Packaged Sales) 

 

E) Consideration of a Motion to approve Special Event Permit  
a) Benefit program for Georgia Southern Museum – Tour of Italy 

 
6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve the following: 

 
A) APPLICATION # AN 12-12-06:   Drayton Parker Companies, LLC, requests 

annexation by the 100% method and rezoning of property located at 6381 Burkhalter 
Road from HC (Highway Commercial – Bulloch County) to HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial).  (Tax parcel # MS88000025000). 



 
 

B) APPLICATION #AN 12-09-01:     Valnoc, LLC requests annexation by the 100% 
method into the City of Statesboro and rezoning of approximately 65.91 acres of 
property located on Cawana Road from HC (Highway Commercial – Bulloch 
County) and R40 (Single Family Residential – Bulloch County) to R4 (High Density 
Residential). (Tax Parcel # 092000012000). 

C) APPLICATION # SE 12-11-01:  Mr. Lance Holloway requests a special exception 
be granted pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to allow the operation of a 
personal care home in an R-4 (High Density Residential) District for property located 
at 302 Johnson Street.  (Tax Map # S11000089000). 

D) APPLICATION # RZ 12-12-01:  Hussey, Gay, Bell & DeYoung, Inc. requests a 
zoning map amendment from R15 (Single Family Residential) District to CR 
(Commercial Retail) District for a portion of property located on 701 Gentilly Road. 
(Tax Parcel # MS73000003000). 

E)  
• APPLICATION # AN 12-12-02: The City of Statesboro requests annexation by 

the 100% method and rezoning of 13.8 acres of property located on Veterans 
Memorial Parkway from HC (Highway Commercial) to PUD (Planned Unit 
Development). (Tax Parcel # MS63000026015). 

• APPLICATION # AN 12-12-03: The City of Statesboro requests annexation by 
the 100% method and rezoning of property located on Highway 67 from CP 
(Conservation Preservation – Bulloch County) and HC (Highway Commercial – 
Bulloch County) to PUD (Planned Unit Development). (Tax Parcel # 
MS75000021000). 

• APPLICATION # AN 12-12-05:  The City of Statesboro requests annexation by 
the 100% method and rezoning of property located on Langston Chapel from R80 
(Residential – Bulloch County) to PUD (Planned Unit Development). (Tax Parcel 
# 092000008001). 

 
7. Consideration of a Motion to grant a variance from requirements of the Flood Damage 

Prevention Ordinance to Hendley Properties for the project known as Village at Midtown 
on South College Street. 
 

8. Consideration of a Motion to award a five year copier and maintenance contract to 
Digital Office Equipment “piggy-backing” the existing contract with the Bulloch County 
Board of Education. 
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2013-02: A Resolution to increase the 
hotel motel tax by 1%. 
 

10. Public Hearing pursuant to Notice of Hearing issued by the Mayor and City Council of 
Statesboro on January 2, 2013 to Gracious Development, LLC and Lanika Walden.  
 

11. Other Business from City Council 
 

12. Public Comments (General) 
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
  CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

JANUARY 03, 2013 

A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on January 03 , 2013 at 9:00 am in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall Present were Mayor Joe R. Brannen, Council Members: Will 
Britt, Phil Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were City Manager 
Frank Parker, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, City Engineer Robert 
Cheshire and Director of Community Development Mandi Cody. 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Joe Brannen 
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman John Riggs 
 
Bulloch County Probate Judge Lee Deloach administered the oath of office to the City of 
Statesboro’s newest Councilmember Phil Boyum. He is the representative for District One. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to recess for a reception in honor of our newly elected Council 
Member (20 minutes) 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to recess for a reception in 
honor of our newly elected Council Member (20 minutes). Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, 
Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations 
  
Recognition of Brad Deal of the Engineering Department for passing the Professional 
Engineer (PE) Exam 
Presentation of Certificate of Achievement to Teresa Skinner for SOP Manual 
City Engineer Robert Cheshire recognized Brad Deal for his achievement of becoming a 
Registered Professional Engineer. 
City Clerk Sue Starling recognized Teresa Skinner for her accomplishment of creating the 
Standard Operating Procedures for the Tax Department. Teresa is the Tax Clerk for Business 
License, Property Taxes and Alcohol License. Mayor Brannen presented her with a Certificate of 
Achievement. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda: 
 
Approval of Minutes 
a) December 4, 2012 Council Minutes 
b) December 4, 2012 Council Work Session Minutes 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to approve the surplus and disposal of a 1999 Ford Explorer in 
the Engineering Department 
 
Notification of alcohol license application: 
Licensee: Ling Lin 
DBA: Tokyo Japanese Restaurant 
Location: 100 Brampton Avenue # 1A 
Type of Alcohol License: Pouring – Beer & Wine 
Type of Business: Restaurant 
 
 Licensee: George Lebus 
             DBA: Fuzzy’s Taco Shop 
             Location: 1602 Statesboro Place Circle 
             Type of Alcohol License: Pouring – Beer, Wine & Liquor  
             Type of Business: Restaurant 
 
 Licensee: Matthew Bowser 
                         DBA: Fuzzy’s Taco Shop 
                         Location: 1602 Statesboro Place Circle 
                         Type of Alcohol License: Pouring – Beer, Wine & Liquor  
                         Type of Business: Restaurant 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the 
consent agenda in its entirety. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to authorize negotiations for an architectural service contract to 
Martin Rule & Associates/Stewart Cooper Newell for fire station designs. 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to authorize negotiations 
for an architectural service contract to Martin Rule & Associates/Stewart Cooper Newell for fire 
station designs. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award the bid contract for the Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Filter Replacement to Y-Delta, Inc. in the amount of $ 339,267.00 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to award the bid 
contract for the Wastewater Treatment Plant Filter Replacement to Y-Delta, Inc. in the amount of 
$ 339,267.00. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council 
City Manager Frank Parker asked Council to approve a motion for the Mayor to sign an 
amendment to the contract between the Department of Natural Resources and the City of 
Statesboro for the design and construction in the area of Luetta Moore Park. 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs for the Mayor to approve the 
amendment to the contract between the Department of Natural Resources and the City of 
Statesboro for the design and construction in the area of Luetta Moore Park.  Councilman Britt, 



 
 

Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 
vote. 
 
City Manager Frank Parker asked Mayor Brannen to appoint a committee for the naming of the 
Luetta Moore Park Trail. Mayor Brannen asked Councilman Lewis to serve on the committee. 
Councilman Lewis accepted the appointment to the committee. 
 
Public Comments (General) None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to adjourn.  
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:05 am.  



RESOLUTION 2013-01: A RESOLUTION TO FIX AND PUBLISH QUALIFYING 
FEES FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO NOVEMBER 5, 2013 GENERAL 
ELECTION 
 
 
 

WHEREAS, a general election will be held in the City of Statesboro on 
November 5, 2013 for the purpose of electing a Mayor, a District 1 Council Member, and 
a District 4 Council Member, all to serve four year terms; and, 
 

WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. 21-2-131 requires the governing body to fix and publish 
the qualifying fee by February 1st of the election year; and, 
 

WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. 21-2-131 requires the qualifying fee to be set at 3% of the 
annual salary of the office; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the City 
of Statesboro as follows: 

 
Section 1. As required by O.C.G.A. 21-2-131, the qualifying fee for candidates 

for Mayor shall be $560.00. 
 
Section 2.  As required by O.C.G.A. 21-2-131, the qualifying fee for candidates 

for City Council in District 1 and District 4 shall be $227.00. 
 
Section 3.  The qualifying fees for the City of Statesboro November 5, 2013 

General Election shall be published in the Statesboro Herald on Sunday, January 27, 
2013 and Thursday, January 31, 2013. 

 
Adopted this 15th day of January 2013 
 
      
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 

____________________________________ 
By:  Joe R. Brannen, Mayor 

 
  

 
____________________________________ 

        Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk  
 







CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA

APPLICATION FOR ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSE

DArE oF APPLTcATIoN i- 8- l"- Nrw X RENEWAL

TYPE OF BUSINESS TO BE OPERATED:
RETAIL BEER & WINE PACKAGED ONLY $1,250.00
RETAIL BEER & WINE BY THE DRTNK
BEER, WINE & LIQUOR BY DRINK
WHOLESALE LICENSE

$1,250.00
$3,750.00
$1,000.00

L Ao.^',f*'ftt t ^)

APPLICATION FEE _ PACKAGED SALES S I5O.OO

APPLICATION FEE - POURING SALES S I5O.OO

OWNERS NAME an.< L l-o -
DBA (BUSTNESS NAMD lL&' Ciqq-li 9ct.* ,^" C* n-^ LLL.

CHECK THE TYPE OF ALCOHOL LICENSE YOU ARE APPLYING FOR: tui {^.L,.,* X
RESTAURANT_SPORTS RESTAURANT_PRIVATE CLUB_PACKAGE- / tG.^\"'-''' 

)
BUSINESS ADDRESS

BUSINESS MAILING ADDRESS 3?q ^ 
r i \ --\fkUI''i"S{o"U -f ..*.\

/t1 ,^,
BUSTNESSTELEPHoNE# ( 7lz\ 5Yt-osn
APPLICANTS HOME ADDRESS .

APPLICANTS HOME PHONE

APPLICANTS AGE
\./

ARE YOU A CITIZEN OF THE UNITED STATES? A YES 

- 

NO

HAVE YOUR EVER BEEN ARRESTED FOR ANYTHING? YES X*o
IF YES, WHEN AND WHY

IS THE APPLTCANT THE OWNER OF THE BUSINESS? X YNS

IF NO, WHAT IS YOUR TITLE IN THE BUSINESS?

How MANy pARTNERS, sHAREHoLDERs, ETC. ARE TNVoLvED IN THE BUSINESS I o'|\q-r

PLEASE LIST BELOW:

f.,rr.Xl,n )t'' ratt-q-



JRN-07-Z0l l(l'l0N] I 6:08 P. 001 /00d

CITY OF STATESBORO
P O BOX 348

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459
Telephone (912) 764-5468 Fax (912) 764-469L

AFPLICATION FOR A SPECIAL EVENT PERMTT
30 DAY NOTICE IS REQUIRED BEFORE THP EVENT

DATE oF AppLIcATIoN i5o.. *r'^... .\ t) , Lq-i'3
l_

DATE OF EVENT i^tf c,, r.\r 1 , lO 13

TIME oF E'ENT 
-* 

oo ..r-.. .,

LocATIoN oF EvENT Nessor',\r ,Lr- 6d

TypE OF EVENT (DETAILED DESRIPTION) {:,a,'rr--e-\ }.*-"-er, the( Ae.nc 'b\..\i*,
a,..".t L?'*r'-.", ,."{.\ \\^,e {9eor*, \,..;\\".* -*r \) 'i,.., fi \e6g;'-rr

IF THIS IS A THEATR-E FRODUCTION, PROVDIE A I}ESCRIPTION.

PRODUCTS TO BE SERVED:
"/ . ,r--

BEER__j<_WINE r- LIQUOR

** ALCOHOL MUST BE PURCHASED THROUGH A LICENSED
WHOLESALE DI STRIBUTOR.
NAME OF' WHOLESALE DISTRIBUTO

ADDREss Al\D rHONE NUMBER OF'wHOLESALE DISTRIBUToRj-]O 
-K. ^<. Ger.rt;f Fr.,A.,aaurr.,.,u\-.16$\ 3l {t4 - h-!.}- iiO- $Qil -") J' t

**TI[E APPLICANT IS NqT ALLOWED TO HAVE A CASH BAR AT THE
EVENT.

WILL THERE BE FOOD SERVED? Tf,'SO WHO WILL BE CATERING?



JHH-07-Z0l 3(i'l0N) I 6:08

WILL THERE BE MUsIc AND DANCING? IF.so DESCRIBED

IF RArsIr{G MOI\iEY FOR A CHARITY, WHAT IS THE NAME ol'THE
OnCAUZATION Gec'--<'*- to't\Ef".r Ylaut€d

PROVIDE A NAME AND PHONE NU
ORGANIZATION CONTACT

NO

P.002/004

IF THE EVENT Is FoR A CHARITY' PROVIDE A COPY OF THE APPROVED

RECoGNITIOI\ oF EXEMPTIOI{ UNDER SECTION 501(CX3) OF THE

INTERI\AL REVENT]E CODE.

ARE TLYERS BEING DISTRIBUTED?
IF YES ATTACH TO APPLICATION.

I{AME oF APPLTCANT 
"3"n{ I \-"'"" t=

AppLICANT,S ADDRESS 
-?r: Bpx tln u \ ,, t vacrt-* , h .l\ ?P"ll''r,c

APPLICANT'S PHONE NUMBEN 1 IZ - 4-1 T' C>,-+'{ U{

APPLICANT IS RA,QUIRED TP ATTEND THE COUNCIL MEETING'

IHAVEREADANDAGREETOTHEREQUIREMENTSoFTHISPERMIT.

\tZ-qlS"q>-t

SIGNATURE OF APPLICANT

OFFICE USE:
DATE OF COUNCIL MEETING

DATE APPROVED BY MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL





 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

AN 12-12-06 

ANNEXATION REQUEST 

6381 BURKHALTER ROAD 

LOCATION: 6831 Burkhalter Road 

 

REQUEST: Annexation by the 100% method; and, 

zoning change from HC (Highway 

Commercial – Bulloch County) District 

to HOC (Highway Oriented 

Commercial) District. 

APPLICANT: Drayton-Parker Companies, LLC 

OWNER(S): Wendell and Miriam Hodges 

LAND AREA: 0.9 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
MS88000025000 

COUNCIL  

DISTRICT: 
5 (Chance) – (Projected) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting annexation and rezoning of the subject property from HC (Highway Commercial – Bulloch 
County) to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district in the City of Statesboro. The subject property is a 0.9 acre site 
located at the corner of Highway 67 and Burkhalter Road just south of the Aspen Heights Development and contiguous 
to the existing municipal limits (See Exhibit A – Location Map). The subject property is proposed to be annexed and 

zoned HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) for a proposed convenience store use.  

BACKGROUND: 

The subject site to be annexed and rezoned is an undeveloped lot containing a dilapidated church building located in 
the “Capital Cost Recovery Area” (CCR) identified in the Intergovernmental Agreement between the City of Statesboro 
and Bulloch County. The CCR allows the City of Statesboro to provide water and sewer infrastructure and indicates that 
Bulloch County will support future annexation subject to the Intergovernmental Agreement. The zoning proposed by the 
applicant as part of this annexation request reflects possible construction and utilization of the property as a 
convenience store. 
 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CR (Commercial Retail) 
R4 (High Density Residential) 
 

Aspen Heights – Under Development 

SOUTH: HC (Highway Commercial – Bulloch 
County) 

Convenience Store and Mobile Home Park 

EAST: R4 (High Density Residential) Aspen Heights – Under Development 

WEST HC (Highway Commercial – Bulloch 
County) 

Single Family Homes and Undeveloped 



 

Page 2 of 5 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-06 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

 
The subject property’s western, eastern, and southern property lines are surrounded by property that is zoned for 
commercial uses located in Bulloch County with actual uses ranging from single family homes to a convenience store. 
The abutting parcel to the north is split zoned for commercial and residential use and is currently under development by 
Aspen Heights as a high density residential development.  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Developing” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future 

Development Map adopted by the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The “Developing” character areas are 

identified as being primarily residential, but are under pressure to grow in a suburban manner. Development patterns 

should be evaluated to maximize opportunities for appropriate blending of residential, office, and commercial 

development. 

Small to mid-size retail and commercial, office, single family, and multifamily residential are all appropriate land uses 

for properties within the Developing character areas. Some suggested development and implementation strategies 

for the area include the following: 

 Large new developments should be master-planned to include mixed-uses wherever appropriate. 

 Promote street design that fosters traffic calming such as narrower residential streets, on-street parking, 
and addition of bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

 There should be strong connectivity and continuity between each subdivision. 
 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 16-17. 

The subject site also lies within the “Proposed Annexation” area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future 
Development Map.  Other recommendations of the Comprehensive Plan have been considered in the analysis of this 
request. 

TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property currently takes access from Burkhalter Road which is considered a rural major collector which is 
defined as a roadway which provides service to any county seat not on an arterial route and to the larger towns not 
directly served by the higher systems according to the Georgia Department of Transportation. Because this property is 
a corner lot fronting Burkhalter and Highway 67, the applicant may choose to design access from either roadway. 
Access requirements will be discussed at the permitting stage. Highway 67 is classified as an urban minor arterial street 
which provides service to trips to lower levels of traffic. In 2011, actual traffic counts suggest a traffic volume on the 
Burkhalter Road at an average of 4,370 vehicle trips per day both ways and a traffic volume of 15,160 trips per day both 
ways for Highway 67 in the year 2011.  
 
A review of the Bulloch County/Statesboro 2035 Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) suggests no expected 
capacity deficiencies on Burkhalter Road. The LRTP also does not recommend any priority roadway improvements for 

Burkhalter Road with the exception of possible turning lanes on Burkhalter Road at the Cawana Road intersection.  
 
Finally, O.C.G.A 36-36-7(c) indicates that a municipality annexing land assumes ownership and control of a County 
road right-of-way only where it annexes on both sides of the road – unless agreed otherwise by both jurisdictions.  
Unless City Council is otherwise inclined to negotiate with County officials, the segment of Burkhalter Road fronting the 
subject property will remain in County jurisdiction.                    

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject property has access to City of Statesboro utilities. Other services such as sanitation and public safety 
services will be extended upon approval of this request. 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not appear to be located within wetlands areas or special flood areas. Any potential issues 
will be addressed during standard permitting processes and reviews.  

ANALYSIS: 

The applicant is requesting to annex approximately a 0.9 acre site located on Burkhalter Road. Section 2207 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states that new areas being annexed into the City shall be considered to be in the R40 
(Single Family Residential) district unless otherwise classified; thus, the applicant is requesting to zone the subject 
property HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial). The applicant is currently proposing the construction and utilization of 
the property as a convenience store. 

Ultimately, the request to annex the subject property as well as consideration of the proposed HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial) zoning designation should be considered in light of the vision and community policies articulated within the 
City’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and The 2035 Bulloch County/City of 
Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan.  Both documents provide information that indicates that the applicant’s 



 

Page 3 of 5 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-06 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

request to annex and zone the subject property at HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) is consistent with the vision 
and land use policies adopted with the recognition that this area is a proposed annexation area located in the 
developing character area which encourages mixed uses. 

The subject site is contiguous to the City of Statesboro and the proposed zoning district provides for commercial 
opportunities which complement developing uses adjacent to the subject property.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of the requested annexation and zoning map amendment requested by AN 12-12-06 with 

the following recommended condition: 
 

i. Developer to install a purple pipe/reuse water irrigation system for connection to city reuse 
system (when available) to the specifications of the City of Statesboro Water/Wastewater. 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Planning Commissioner Nick Propps recused himself from considering this application. Planning Commission voted 
5-0 to recommend approval of the annexation and zoning map amendment requested by AN 12-12-06 with the 
following staff recommended condition: 
  

i. Developer to install a purple pipe/reuse water irrigation system for connection to city reuse 
system (when available) to the specifications of the City of Statesboro Water/Wastewater. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 4 of 5 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-06 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

 
 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 5 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-06 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT SITE. 

 

Figure 1: Subject Site from Highway 67 

 

Figure 2: Convenience Store adjacent to the Subject Site. 



 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

AN 12-09-01 

ANNEXATION REQUEST 

CAWANA ROAD 

LOCATION: Cawana Road 

 

REQUEST: Annexation by the 100% method; and, 

zoning change of approx. 5 acres from 

HC (Highway Commercial – Bulloch 

County) District and approx. 60 acres 

from R40 (Single Family Residential – 

Bulloch County) District to R4 (High 

Density Residential) District. 

APPLICANT: Valnoc, LLC 

OWNER(S): CEB Enterprises, LLC 

LAND AREA: 64.93 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
092000012000 

COUNCIL  

DISTRICT: 
5 (Chance) – (Projected) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting annexation and rezoning of the subject property from R40 (Bulloch County – Single Family 
Residential) and HC (Bulloch County – Highway Commercial) to R4 (High Density Residential) district in the City of 
Statesboro. The subject property is a portion of an 82.94 acre site located between Highway 67 and Cawana Road just 
north of the proposed Aspen Heights Development and contiguous to the existing municipal limits (See Exhibit A – 
Location Map).  Consistent with the survey prepared for the annexation request, approximately 64.93 acres is 

proposed to be annexed and zoned R4 (High Density Residential). The remaining 18 ± acres contain a single family 
home and are proposed to remain in Bulloch County zoned R40 (Bulloch County – Single Family Residential).  

BACKGROUND: 

The portion of the subject site to be annexed and rezoned is an undeveloped lot located in the “Capital Cost Recovery 
Area” (CCR) identified in the Intergovernmental Agreement between the City of Statesboro and Bulloch County. The 
CCR allows the City of Statesboro to provide water and sewer infrastructure and indicates that Bulloch County will 
support future annexation subject to the Intergovernmental Agreement. The zoning proposed by the applicant as part of 
this annexation request reflects no imminent development plans for the approximate 64.93 acres. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 2 of 8 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-09-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R40 (Single Family Residential – Bulloch 
County) District 
CR (Commercial Retail) District 

Undeveloped, Restaurant, Convenience Store, and Single 
Family Residential 

SOUTH: R4 (High Density Residential) District 
CR (Commercial Retail) District 
R40 (Single Family Residential – Bulloch 
County) District 

Proposed Aspen Heights Residential Development and 
Undeveloped 

EAST: R40 (Single Family Residential – Bulloch 
County) District 

Undeveloped 

WEST HC (Highway Commercial – Bulloch 
County) District 
CP (Conservation Preservation – Bulloch 
County) District 

Commercial and Undeveloped 

 
The subject property’s northern, eastern, and southern property lines are surrounded by property that is mostly 
undeveloped and located in Bulloch County. The abutting parcel to the southwest is currently under development by 
Aspen Heights as a high density residential development. The properties just across Highway 67 to the west of the 
subject property range from undeveloped to residential and commercial uses. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Developing” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future 

Development Map adopted by the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The “Developing” character areas are 

identified as being primarily residential, but are under pressure to grow in a suburban manner. Development patterns 

should be evaluated to maximize opportunities for appropriate blending of residential, office, and commercial 

development. 

Small to mid-size retail and commercial, office, single family, and multifamily residential are all appropriate land uses 

for properties within the Developing character areas. Some suggested development and implementation strategies 

for the area include the following: 

 Large new developments should be master-planned to include mixed-uses wherever appropriate. 

 Promote street design that fosters traffic calming such as narrower residential streets, on-street parking, 
and addition of bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

 There should be strong connectivity and continuity between each subdivision. 
 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 16-17. 

The subject site also lies within the “Proposed Annexation” area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future 
Development Map. Other recommendations of the Comprehensive Plan have been considered in the analysis of this 
request.  

TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property’s sole road frontage is Cawana Road. Cawana Road is considered an urban collector street which 
collects traffic from local streets and channels it into an arterial system according to the Georgia Department of 
Transportation. In 2011, actual traffic counts suggest a traffic volume on the adjacent Burkhalter Road just south of the 
subject property at an average of 4,370 vehicle trips per day both ways. A traffic count for Cawana Road was not 
recorded. 
 
A review of the Bulloch County/Statesboro 2035 Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) suggests no expected 
capacity deficiencies on Cawana Road. The LRTP also does not recommend any priority roadway improvements for 
Cawana Road with the exception of possible turning lanes on the adjacent Burkhalter Road at the Cawana Road 
intersection.  
 
The City of Statesboro Engineer recommends a condition of a road for public access and burden relief; therefore, staff 
recommends a condition of the dedication of an unimproved 80’ wide strip of land running from the adjacent property 
line to the south (Aspen Heights) to Cawana Road as a right of way, to the City of Statesboro. The developer shall 
improve the 80’ right of way upon development of each parcel or portion of each parcel and any improvements that 
might be required by the development of the property should be examined by the City of Statesboro upon submittal of 
development plans to City of Statesboro for permitting activity. 



 

Page 3 of 8 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-09-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

 
The applicant will develop a portion of the subject property to improve the unimproved portion of the road started by 
Aspen Heights to connect Highway 67 with Cawana Road. The proposed road will be dedicated to the City of 
Statesboro as a public road and will offer traffic calming solutions to the adjacent Burkhalter Road. 
 
Finally, O.C.G.A 36-36-7(c) indicates that a municipality annexing land assumes ownership and control of a County 
road right-of-way only where it annexes on both sides of the road – unless agreed otherwise by both jurisdictions.  
Unless City Council is otherwise inclined to negotiate with County officials, the segment of Cawana Road fronting the 
subject property will remain in County jurisdiction.                      

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

This site has access to City of Statesboro utilities. Other services such as sanitation and public safety will be extended 
upon approval of this request. 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

Some acreage in the northwest portion of the subject property appears to be located within wetland areas and special 
flood area. The wetlands are expected to have little impact on the development potential of the subject property. Any 
potential issues will be addressed during standard permitting process and reviews. 

ANALYSIS: 

The applicant is requesting to annex approximately 64.93 acres of an 82.94 acre site located on Cawana Road. 
Section 2207 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states that new areas being annexed into the City shall be default 
zoned R40 (Single Family Residential) district unless otherwise requested; thus, the applicant is requesting an R4 
(High Density Residential) zoning which allows “apartment houses or group of apartment houses which constitute a 
single operating or proprietary unit” up to 12 dwelling units per acre; duplexes; and single family residential homes  as 
uses by right within the district. This request is not being made subject to a defined development request but allows 
marketing of the property as a receipt of city services. The request also provides for the natural growth of the 
municipal boundary to reflect a service area already serviced by City of Statesboro utilities. 

Ultimately, the request to annex the subject property as well as consideration of the proposed R4 (High Density 
Residential) zoning designation should be considered in light of the vision and community policies articulated within the 
City’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and The 2035 Bulloch County/City of 
Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan.  Staff review of both documents indicate that the applicant’s request to 

annex and zone the subject property at R4 (High Density Residential) is consistent with the vision and land use policies 
adopted as this area is included within a proposed annexation area as well as the developing character area which 
encourages mixed use including high density residential. 

Developmental parameters and suggested implementation strategies of the Comprehensive Plan are provided for.  For 
example, the Plan states that “new development [within the Developing character area] should strive to increase 
connectivity within developments, to existing streets, and to adjacent undeveloped properties.” Therefore, staff suggests 
the conditions listed in the staff recommendation. This project proposes that by connecting this development with the 
adjacent property to the south onto Highway 67 and allowing residents access to the facilities and other amenities 
provided on the adjacent property while offering traffic calming solutions for the adjacent Burkhalter Road. 

The subject site is contiguous to the City of Statesboro and the proposed zoning district provides for potential residential 
densities which complement developing uses adjacent to the subject property. Increased density also allows for a more 
efficient use in the future of City water and sewer infrastructure which have been available to the subject property.              

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of the requested annexation and zoning map amendment requested by AN 12-09-01 with 

the following recommended conditions: 
 

i. Developer to install a purple pipe/reuse water irrigation system for connection to city reuse 
system (when available) to the specifications of the City of Statesboro Water/Wastewater 
Department. 

ii. The dedication of an unimproved 80’ wide strip of land running from the adjacent property line 
to the south (the property now or formerly being owned by Breckenridge Group – Aspen 
Heights) to Cawana Road as a right of way, to the City of Statesboro, for the express purpose of 
future right of way construction and improvements. All plats must show the dedicated right of 
way on the property. The routing and placement of said lane at the intersection of Cawana Road 
shall be subject to the approval of the City Engineer or his/her designee. 

iii. Developer shall improve the 80’ right of way upon development of each parcel or portion of each 
parcel to the point of service of each parcel. The right of way must be completed the entire 
depth of the property to City of Statesboro standards once 50% (as calculated by the City of 
Statesboro) or more of the property has been developed. Said improvements shall include, but 



 

Page 4 of 8 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-09-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

not be limited to, road, curb, gutter, bike lanes, and sidewalks (generally 5’wide), and shall be 
constructed by the developer to City of Statesboro standards.  

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Commission voted 6-0 to recommend approval of the annexation and zoning map amendment requested by 

AN 12-09-01 with the following staff recommended conditions: 

i. Developer to install a purple pipe/reuse water irrigation system for connection to city reuse 
system (when available) to the specifications of the City of Statesboro Water/Wastewater 
Department. 

ii. The dedication of an unimproved 80’ wide strip of land running from the adjacent property line 
to the south (the property now or formerly being owned by Breckenridge Group – Aspen 
Heights) to Cawana Road as a right of way, to the City of Statesboro, for the express purpose of 
future right of way construction and improvements. All plats must show the dedicated right of 
way on the property. The routing and placement of said lane at the intersection of Cawana Road 
shall be subject to the approval of the City Engineer or his/her designee. 

iii. Developer shall improve the 80’ right of way upon development of each parcel or portion of each 
parcel to the point of service of each parcel. The right of way must be completed the entire 
depth of the property to City of Statesboro standards once 50% (as calculated by the City of 
Statesboro) or more of the property has been developed. Said improvements shall include, but 
not be limited to, road, curb, gutter, bike lanes, and sidewalks (generally 5’wide), and shall be 
constructed by the developer to City of Statesboro standards.  

  



 

Page 5 of 8 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-09-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

  



 

Page 6 of 8 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-09-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B:  PROPERTY SURVEY 

  



 

Page 7 of 8 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-09-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT C: PROPERTY SURVEY SHOWING THE 18.007 ACRE TRACT TO REMAIN IN COUNTY. 

 

 



 

Page 8 of 8 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-09-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT D:  AERIAL 

 

 



 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

SE 12-11-01 

SPECIAL EXCEPTION REQUEST 

302 JOHNSON STREET 

LOCATION: 302 Johnson Street 

 

REQUEST: 
Special Exception to allow a group home in a 

R4 (High Density Residential) district. 

APPLICANT: Lance Holloway 

OWNER(S): Lance & Lamar Holloway 

LAND AREA: .39 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
S11000089000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
2 (Lewis) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The property owner requests a Special Exception to allow for the continued utilization of the property located at 302 
Johnson Street as a group or personal care home. The subject site is zoned R4 (High Density Residential). The 
proposed use is not permitted in the R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district. (See Exhibit A – Location Map) 

BACKGROUND: 

The .39 acre single lot contains a vacant building and has had multiple Special Exceptions granted for uses related to 
personal care homes. The first approval was granted in 1997, followed by an additional approval of a different 
applicant in 1999 with the final approval given in 2003 to Pineland Mental Health. 
 
The use proposed in this application is beyond the scope of City Council’s previous approvals in licensees/applicants. 
It should be noted that the purpose of this application is to consider whether the land uses and licenses proposed at 
the site may qualify this applicant for a zoning recommendation of approval at the site for the requested uses and 
licenses.  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R8 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Homes 

SOUTH: R8 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Homes 

EAST: R4 (High Density Residential) Single Family Homes 

WEST R4 (High Density Residential) Government Housing 

The subject property is located in a residential area with the property’s boundaries surrounded by single family homes 
and the Statesboro Housing Authority to the north. (See Exhibit B) 

 



 

Page 2 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 12-11-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Established” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro Future 

Development Map adopted by the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The “Established” character areas are 

identified as being traditionally residential in nature. Some neighborhoods within this character area are facing decline 

and issues with blight. Extra efforts should be made to return them to viable neighborhoods.  

Neighborhood-scaled retail and commercial, small-scale office, neighborhood services, and small-lot single family 

residential are all appropriate land uses for properties within the Established character area. Some suggested 

development and implementation strategies for the area include the following: 

 Ensure that new development and land uses do not encroach upon or detract from the character of the 
recognized National Historic Districts within this area. 

 Provide support for the creation of neighborhood associations and provide continued support for these 
organizations once established through the development of initiatives to address unique neighborhood 
issues/characteristics. 

 Strengthen enforcement of code violations for private property, including property maintenance, parking, and 
structural conditions. 

 Add crosswalks and pedestrian signals along busy streets, including Johnson Street. 
 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 14-15. 

As illustrated in the Comprehensive Plan, small-scale retail and neighborhood services in this area is acceptable. 
Utilizing the subject site in a neighborhood services manner contributes to the goals set forth in the implementation 
strategies. Careful attention should be paid to maintaining the residential neighborhoods while reasonably addressing 
these and code violations in this area. Other recommendations of the Comprehensive Plan have been considered in the 

analysis of this request. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently served by city services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety. No significant 
impact is expected on city services as a result of this request. 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard zone. There is no 
expected environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed 
during standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

The .39 acre site is currently zoned R4 (High Density Residential) with one vacant building on the property. A 
Conditional Use Variance, currently referred to as Special Exception, was granted by the Statesboro Mayor and City 
Council in 1997, 2000, and 2003 each to a different applicant for the use of the property as a personal care or mental 
care home. The current property owner invested in this property with the assumption that the proposed use would be 
permissible for any future tenants due to the previous approvals. However, Article XXIV of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance states that approval of a conditional use variance by the Mayor and Council does not constitute an approval 
for future expansions, additions, or changes to the initially approved operation. Therefore, the proposed change of 
business ownership necessitates additional approval by the Mayor and Council.   
 
Special Exceptions allow for a land use that is inconsistent with uses permitted of right within a zoning district but which 
may be granted where requested uses may be deemed appropriate and compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. 
In this case, a personal care home is not a use permitted by right within the R4 (High Density Residential) zoning 
district; however, the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance lacks regulations providing guidance as to which zoning district this 
type of use permissible in. Given past case history and the intent of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, staff believes the 
proposed use of a group or personal care home is restricted to retail related districts; therefore, this proposed use by 
this applicant necessitates approval by the Mayor and Council as for previous applicants.   
 
Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance lists seven (7) factors that should be considered by Mayor 
and City Council “in determining compatibility” of the requested use with adjacent properties and the overall 
community as for considerations of Conditional Use Variances, or Special Exceptions as follows: 

A. Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impact of the 
proposed use to an acceptable level. 

B. Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be substantially hindered or 
endangered. 



 

Page 3 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 12-11-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

 Traffic counts for the area and thereby relative to the subject site were 4,830 trips both ways for the year 
2011. The proposed use is not being intensified from that which was approved in the past and should not 
cause an impact on vehicular traffic. 

 The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan encourages crosswalks and pedestrian signals particularly on Johnson 

Street. The subject site connects to a crosswalk that crosses Johnson Street to Statesboro Housing 
Authority. 

C. Off street parking and loading, and the entrances to and exits from such parking and loading, will be 
adequate in terms of location, amount, and design to serve the use. 

 A previous applicant constructed an unpaved parking lot suitable for five (5) spaces and access as part of a 
condition of approval by Mayor and City Council. 

 The applicant has indicated that there will be four (4) residents. According to Article XVI of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance, the applicant must have 1.4 parking spaces for every four (4) beds; therefore, this site 

has adequate parking. 
D. Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed use. 

 Building Inspections by the Building Inspections Division (Building Official) have not been conducted but 
may be required in the permitting stage. 

E. The proposed use will not have significant adverse effect on the level of property values or the general 
character of the area. 

 This area is in need of positive development due to issues of blight and criminal activity. The proposed use 
is not expected to have an adverse effect on property values in the area; however, it is also important that 
we consider ways to enhance property values and control violations in this neighborhood. 

F. Unless otherwise noted, the site plan submitted in support of an approved conditional use shall be 
considered part of the approval and must be followed. 

 A proposed site plan or floor plan was not submitted as part of this application. 
G. Approval of a proposed use by the mayor and council does not constitute and [an] approval for future 

expansion of or additions or changes to the initially approved operation. Any future phases or changes 
that are considered significant by the planning commission and not included in the original approval are 
subject to the provisions of this section and the review of new detailed plans and reports for said 
alterations by the governing authority. 

 The previously approved uses have since expired and the applicant has changed. 
 
Additionally, § 2406 also requires consideration of the following factors given for standards for 
determination in a zoning change in “balancing the promotions of the public health, safety, morality [morals] 
and general welfare against the right of unrestricted use of property” given in § 2007 of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance”: 

 
1. Existing uses and zoning or [of] property nearby. 

 Surrounding properties range from single family residential to small scale retail. 
2. The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 
3. The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the health, safety, 

morals or general welfare of the public. 
4. The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 
5. The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 
6. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 

development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

 The subject site has remained empty when not being utilized in a manner similar to the request. 
7. The extent the proposed change would impact population density in the area, community facilities, living 

conditions in the area, traffic patterns and congestion, environmental aspects, existing and future land 
use patterns, and property values in adjacent areas. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Based on the factors of consideration for Special Exceptions given in Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, 
the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, staff recommends approval of the Special Exception requested by this application 
with the following condition: 

1. Special Exception for use as a personal care home is granted to property owners Lance and Lamar Holloway. 
Individual operators must obtain an Occupational Tax Certificate (Business License) and any other City of 
Statesboro required licensing and permitting with evidence of state licensing. 

 

 

 



 

Page 4 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 12-11-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Commission voted 6-0 to recommend approval of the Special Exception requested by SE 12-11-01 with the 
following staff recommended condition: 

1. Special Exception for use as a personal care home is granted to property owners Lance and Lamar Holloway. 
Individual operators must obtain an Occupational Tax Certificate (Business License) and any other City of 
Statesboro required licensing and permitting with evidence of state licensing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 12-11-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



 

Page 6 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 12-11-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY. 

 
Figure 1: The Subject Property from Johnson Street 

 

 
Figure 2: Subject Site from Bulloch Street. 

 



 

Page 7 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 12-11-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.). 

 
Figure 4: East Side of Building. 

 

 
Figure 4: Statesboro Housing Authority across Johnson Street North of the Subject Site. 



 

Page 8 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # SE 12-11-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.). 

 
Figure 5: Properties to the East of the Subject Site. 
 



 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

RZ 12-12-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT  

701 GENTILLY ROAD 

LOCATION: 701 Gentilly Road 

 

REQUEST: 
Rezone from R15 (Single Family Residential) 

to CR (Commercial Retail) 

APPLICANT: TI – Gentilly Gardens, LLC 

OWNER(S): New Covenant Church 

LAND AREA: Approximately .14 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 
MS73000003000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
4 (Riggs) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting rezoning of approximately .14 acres of an entire 9.86 acre lot located at 701 Gentilly Road 
from R15 (Single Family Residential) District to CR (Commercial Retail) in anticipation of subdividing the property for 
the sale and combination with the western adjacent property – Gentilly Gardens. (See Exhibit A – Location Map & 
Exhibit B – Sketch Plan) 

BACKGROUND: 

The subject area of this request is adjacent to property on Gentilly Road that was recently rezoned from R15 (Single 
Family Residential) to CR (Commercial Retail) to rid the applicant of the burden of a Special Exception and allow a 
permissible use that is consistent with the current and future use as an assisted living facility for future expansion in 
case RZ 12-03-01. The applicant of the aforementioned case wishes to combine a portion of New Covenant Church’s 
property with that of Gentilly Gardens’ for development purposes necessitating a zoning map amendment. 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R15 (Single Family Residential),R3 (Medium Density Residential) Vacant, Duplexes 

SOUTH: R15 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Homes 

EAST: R15 (Single Family Residential)  Church and Single Family Homes 

WEST CR (Commercial Retail) Assisted Living Facility 

The subject property is located in mixed use area with a church to the south east of the subject property, Gentilly 
Gardens to the west, undeveloped land and duplexes to the north, and single family to the south and extreme east. 
(See Exhibit C) 

 

 



 

Page 2 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-12-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Developing” character area and adjacent to a proposed “Green Space” area as 
identified by the City of Statesboro Future Development Map within the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  The 
Developing character area is primarily residential in nature, but is “under pressure to grow in a suburban manner.” 
“These developing areas can be found at the periphery of the city, adjacent to existing suburban development and 
highway corridors.”  Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda, page 16. 

Small to mid-size retail and commercial, offices, services, and multi-family residential are all appropriate land uses for 
properties within the Developing character area. Some suggested development and implementation strategies for the 
area include the following:  

 Large new developments should be master planned to include mixed uses wherever appropriate. 

 New developments should provide recreational facilities and open space to meet the needs of their 
residents. 

 Promote walking and bicycling as an alternative means of transportation through the provision of safe, 
accessible and connected networks and bike storage facilities at destinations. 

 There should be good vehicular and pedestrian/bike connections to retail/commercial services as well as 
internal street connectivity, connectivity to adjacent properties/subdivisions, and multiple site access 
points.   

 Wherever possible, connect to the existing and proposed network of multiuse trails. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 16-17. 

As illustrated in the Comprehensive Plan, the use as an assisted living facility is appropriate for the subject area as it 
encourages mixed uses in the character area. The Plan also encourages vehicular connections to retail services. The 
City of Statesboro is currently preparing to construct a sidewalk along Gentilly Road which would connect pedestrians 
to the S&S Greenway Trail and Brannen Street, a commercial corridor. Other recommendations of the Comprehensive 
Plan have been considered in the analysis of this request.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES (EXCEPT TRANSPORTATION): 

The subject site is currently served by city services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant 
impact is expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

The entire 9.86 acre site is currently zoned R15 (Single Family Residential) and contains New Covenant Church. The 
applicant’s request to rezone a portion (approximately .14 acres) of the property from R15 (Single Family Residential) to 
CR (Commercial Retail) would allow for subdivision and combination with the adjacent lot to the west to be developed 
with the proposed expansion of Gentilly Gardens which was recently rezoned to CR (Commercial Retail).  
 
Staff recommends that Council consider the effect this request would have on split zoning which can be defined as two 
or more zoning designations on one piece of property. Split zoning can be viewed as a short-term solution but can 
easily turn into a long-term problem if, for example, the applicant does not follow through with subdivision and 
combination. In such instance, accurately mapping split-zoned properties can be difficult, causing potential liability 
issues. The current zoning ordinance does not provide guidance for split-zone requests nor does it prohibit the practice; 
therefore, staff must consider each request on a case by case basis.  
 
While split zoning of parcels can be problematic and should ordinarily be used with caution, in this case, the applicant 
has submitted a subdivision/combination plat to be approved by the Mayor and Director of Planning and Development if 
this request is approved. Therefore, there are no indications that the combination with the adjacent property would not 
be successful; thereby, alleviating any concerns in this instance. 
 
The request to rezone the subject property should be considered in light of the standards for determination of zoning 
map amendments given in Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance; the vision and community policies 
articulated within the city’s two (2) primary land use policies: The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the 2035 
Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan; and the potential for the property to develop in 

conformance with the requirements of the proposed CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district for residential uses only 
as set forth in the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
 



 

Page 3 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-12-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 
 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby; 

o Existing uses and zoning of nearby property range from commercial to single family residential 
homes.  

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 
(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 

health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 
(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner. 

o The proposed combination of the property allows Gentilly Gardens to expand the facility 
appropriately to accommodate the growing needs of its members and the demand for new 
members. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 

o The proposed land use meets the provisions of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

o Upon combination, the property will meet lot sizes and other regulating standards of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance. 

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

o The entire parcel is utilized as a church. The portion of the lot to be rezoned is vacant.  
o Allowing the applicant to rezone for subdivision/combination purposes will allow development of an 

underutilized wooded portion of property. 
(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  population density in the area; 

community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent areas; 

o Traffic counts for the immediate area (and thereby relative to the subject property’s proposed use) 
states that the total average annual daily trips reached approximately 12,650 trips both ways for the 
year 2011 which is a decrease of approximately 2,000 trips from 2010 but is not expected to 
increase significantly with the applicant’s request. 

o The proposed use is not expected to have a negative impact on population density, community 
facilities, living conditions, traffic patterns and property values in adjacent areas given its current, 
and is not expected to be negative or burdensome to the general public or surrounding property 
owners. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 
o The requested zoning map amendment is consistent with the policies articulated within the 2035 

Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan and the anticipation of the 
City’s construction of a sidewalk along Gentilly Road. 

o As illustrated on the sketch plan submittal, the subject property can be developed in conformance 
with the requirements for the proposed CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district when combined with 
the adjacent lot. The combined property will be sufficient in size and shape for proposed 
commercial use and will help Gentilly Gardens meet the setback and other standards of the CR 
(Commercial Retail) zoning districts as well as the parking, buffering, and other development 
requirements set forth in the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. If the subject property does not 
combine with the adjacent parcel after being rezoned, the provisions of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance could not be met. The subdivided portion would be landlocked if combination is not 

successful. 
o The remainder of the church property continues to meet regulatory standards of the Statesboro 

Zoning Ordinance. 
o The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan adopts a goal of “promot[ing] infill and redevelopment”  

stating that “infill development, which consists of developing vacant lots dispersed in developed 
areas, strengthens neighborhoods and reinvests money into infrastructure which is already in 
place”. (Community Agenda, page 51).  The requested utilization of the subject site would achieve 
this goal. 

o This request may pose an issue of split-zoning the property until subdivision and combination is 
completed. The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance does not offer any provisions or guidance in regards 
to split-zoning parcels. In this case, however, no negative impact on zoning is expected as result of 
this request since the applicant has already submitted a subdivision/combination plat for approval 
and recording pending approval of this request. (See Exhibit B) 

 



 

Page 4 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-12-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Based on the factors of consideration for zoning map amendments given in Section 2007, the Comprehensive Plan, 
and the Long Range Transportation Plan, staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by 
application RZ 12-12-01. 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Commission voted 6-0 to recommend approval of the zoning map amendment requested by RZ 12-12-01. 

 

(Please note: Unless otherwise stated in any formal motion by City Council, staff considers the conceptual site plan 
(Exhibit B) submitted on behalf of the applicant for this request to be illustrative only.  Approval of the application does 
not constitute approval of any final building or site plan). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-12-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 



 

Page 6 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-12-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B: PLAT 

 

EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY. 



 

Page 7 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-12-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

 
Figure 1: The wooded area of the subject property. 

 

 
Figure 2: Gentilly Gardens (Rear Portion to be combined with Subject Site.) 
EXHIBIT C: PHOTOS OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND GENERAL VICINITY (CONT.). 



 

Page 8 of 8 

 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # RZ 12-12-01 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

 
Figure 4: New Covenant Church. 
 



 

 
City of Statesboro – Department of Community Development  

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348     » (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia   30458  » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN12-12-05 

VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY, HIGHWAY 67, & LANGSTON CHAPEL 

ANNEXATION REQUESTS 

LOCATION: Veterans Memorial Parkway, Highway 

67, Langston Chapel Road 

 

 

REQUEST: Annexation by the 100% method; and, 

zoning change to PUD (Planned Unit 

Development). 

APPLICANT: City of Statesboro 

OWNER(S): City of Statesboro 

LAND AREA: 13.8 acres, 181.62 acres, & 92.65 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #s: 

MS63000026015, MS75000021000, & 

092000008001 

COUNCIL  

DISTRICT: 
3 (Britt) – (Projected) 

PROPOSAL: 

The City of Statesboro staff recommends the annexation and rezoning of the following three (3) parcels owned by the 
City of Statesboro with a PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning designation: 

1. Parcel MS63000026015 (Veterans Memorial Parkway) is approximately 13.8 acres and contains easements 
and lift station for waste water reuse purposes. (See Exhibit A) 

2. Parcel MS75000021000 (Highway 67) is an approximately 181.62 acre tract commonly known as “Birds Pond” 
and extends to Langston Chapel Road with a water station and drainage basin for utility purposes. (See 
Exhibit B) 

3. Parcel 09000008001 (Langston Chapel Road) is approximately 95.65 acres which serves as an extension to 
the storm water drainage basin originating at Birds Pond. (See Exhibit C) 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

Once annexed, all parcels are proposed to lie within the “Green Space” character area as identified by the City of 

Statesboro Future Development Map adopted by the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan. Parcels included within 

the “Green Space” character areas are environmental, sensitive areas, such as wetlands and floodplains, and are 

intended to be zoned for conservation purposes and/or environmentally sensitive in design and development. 

Open space and multi-purpose paths/trails are appropriate land uses for properties within the “Green Space” 

character areas. Some suggested development and implementation strategies for the area include the following: 

 Protect areas of natural beauty and resources (such as wetlands) from development; consider the use 
of conservation easements for increased protection in perpetuity. 

 New development should be master-planned and carefully linked to surrounding developed areas 
through a network of streets. 

 Incorporate passive recreation, such as multi-purpose trails, in green space areas to increase access to 
natural areas and increase transportation alternatives.



 

Page 2 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda pages 20-21. 
 

The green space area is identified as being the only significant wetland area within the city limits and usually lies within 
a floodplain. Whenever possible, the natural terrain, drainage, and vegetation of the area should be preserved. Since all 
of the proposed parcels contain wetlands and lie within flood plains, applying a PUD (Planned Unit Development) 
designation to the subject properties will allow the City to preserve the City owned natural terrain while maintaining a 
character area similar to its current character area in Bulloch County – Natural Open Space.  

ANALYSIS: 

Staff recommends the annexation of the following three (3) contiguous City of Statesboro owned and maintained 
parcels located outside of the current municipal limits. Each parcel should be considered separately: 

1. Parcel MS63000026015 (Veterans Memorial Parkway) contains a lift station for waste water reuse 

purposes. The subject property is approximately 13.8 acres and is currently zoned HC (Highway 
Commercial – Bulloch County). (See Exhibit A)  

2. Parcel MS75000032000 (Highway 67) is commonly known as “Birds Pond” and contains a storm water 

detention pond and waste water aerator utilized by the City of Statesboro’s Waste Water Department. The 
subject property is approximately 181.62 acres and is currently zoned CP (Conservation Preservation – 
Bulloch County) and HC (Highway Commercial – Bulloch County). (See Exhibit B) 

3. Parcel 092000008001 (Langston Chapel Road) is an approximately 92.65 acre site that serves as an 

extension to “Bird’s Pond” and is zoned R80 (Single Family Residential – Bulloch County). According to 
O.C.G.A Section 36-36-20 of the Georgia Annexation Law, a parcel is considered contiguous if at least one-
eighth (1/8) of the aggregate external boundary or fifty (50) feet of the area to be annexed, whichever is less, 
either abuts directly on the municipal boundary or would directly abut on the municipal boundary if it were 
not otherwise separated from the municipal boundary by any street or right of way, any creek or river, or any 
right of way of a railroad. This property is contiguous in that it abuts Langston Chapel Road at 200’, which 
abuts Birds Pond (AN 12-12-03), also being considered for annexation. (See Exhibit C) 

Section 2207 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states that new areas being annexed into the City shall be 
considered to be in the R40 (Single Family Residential) district unless otherwise classified; thus, the City is 
requesting to rezone the subject properties to PUD (Planned Unit Development). The proposed PUD (Planned Unit 
Development) zoning designation allows the City the authority to review and prescribe any future development of the 
subject properties while maintaining the natural green space for preservation.  

The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance does not incorporate an article devoted to conservation preservation or green space 

areas; therefore staff recommends that the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning designation be used until such 
time as a more appropriate zoning designation can be adopted by City Council. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of the annexations with a “Green Space” character area and PUD (Planned Unit 

Development) zoning designation requested by the following applications: 

 

1. AN 12-12-02 (Veterans Memorial Parkway) 
2. AN 12-12-03 (Highway 67 – Birds Pond) 
3. AN 12-12-05 (Langston Chapel Road) 

 

Assuming approval of these annexations, staff will prepare the necessary updates to the City of Statesboro 
Comprehensive Plan; future land use map; City boundary maps; as well as submit the annexation to the U.S. 
Department of Justice for pre-clearance pursuant to the Voting Rights Act. All of which will be brought for Council 
consideration at the next meeting. 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Commission voted 6-0 to recommend approval of the following annexations: 

1. AN 12-12-02 (Veterans Memorial Parkway) 
2. AN 12-12-03 (Highway 67 – Birds Pond) 
3. AN 12-12-05 (Langston Chapel Road) 

 

Assuming approval of these annexations, staff will prepare the necessary updates to the City of Statesboro 
Comprehensive Plan; future land use map; City boundary maps; as well as submit the annexation to the U.S. 
Department of Justice for pre-clearance pursuant to the Voting Rights Act. All of which will be brought for Council 
consideration at the next meeting. 

 



 

Page 3 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT A:  AN 12-12-02 - PARCEL MS63000026015 VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY

 
Figure 1: Location Map. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 4 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT A:  AN 12-12-02 - PARCEL MS63000026015 VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY 
CONTINUED. 

 
Figure 2: Wetland & Floodplain Map. 
 

 
Figure 3: City of Statesboro Lift Station with Purple Pipes. 



 

Page 5 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT A:  AN 12-12-02 - PARCEL MS63000026015 VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY 
CONTINUED. 

 
Figure 4: City of Statesboro Lift Station. 
 

 
Figure 5: Subject Property – “The Islands” to the West. 



 

Page 6 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B: AN 12-12-03 - PARCEL MS75000021000 HIGHWAY 67 - “BIRDS POND” 
 

 
Figure 1: Location Map. 
 



 

Page 7 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B: AN 12-12-03 - PARCEL MS75000021000 HIGHWAY 67 - “BIRDS POND” 
CONTINUED. 
 

 
Figure 2: Wetland and Floodplain Map. 
 

 
Figure 3: Entrance from Bird Road. 



 

Page 8 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B: AN 12-12-03 - PARCEL MS75000021000 HIGHWAY 67 - “BIRDS POND” 
CONTINUED. 
 

 
Figure 4: Storm Water Detention. 
 

 
Figure 5: Waste Water Aerator. 
 



 

Page 9 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT B: AN 12-12-03 - PARCEL MS75000021000 HIGHWAY 67 - “BIRDS POND” 
CONTINUED. 
 

 
Figure 6: Storm Water Detention Pond. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 10 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT C: AN 12-12-05 PARCEL 092000008001 – LANGSTON CHAPEL ROAD 
 

 
Figure 1: Location Map. 



 

Page 11 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT C: AN 12-12-05 PARCEL 092000008001 – LANGSTON CHAPEL ROAD 
CONTINUED. 
 

 
Figure 2: Wetland and Flood Plain Map. 
 

 
Figure 3: Water Crossing under Langston Chapel from Birds Pond. 



 

Page 12 of 12 

 
 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # AN 12-12-02, AN 12-12-03, & AN 12-12-05 

Amended January 9, 2013 

 

EXHIBIT C: AN 12-12-05 PARCEL 092000008001 – LANGSTON CHAPEL ROAD 
CONTINUED. 
 

 
Figure 4: Storm Water Basin. 



 

 

P.O. Box 348                                                                                                                                        Phone: 912.764.0655 
Statesboro, GA 30459                                                                                                                              Fax: 912.764.0664 

engineering@statesboroga.net 

City of Statesboro 

Engineering Department 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To: Frank Parker, City Manager 
 
From: Robert Cheshire, PE, City Engineer 

David Hendrix, Assistant City Engineer 
 
Re: Variance from Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance Requirements 
 Village at Midtown 

 
Date: January 8, 2013  
 
On behalf of Ray Hendley for his project known as the Village at Midtown, Joey Maxwell requests a 
variance from the compensatory grading requirement of the City’s Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance.  
The Ordinance requires that no additional fill material be added to project within the floodplain unless, 
at a minimum, equal amounts of existing material are removed from the project.  This is known as 
compensatory grading.  Existing subsurface deleterious materials at the project site make it unfeasible 
to balance cut and fill in an effort to meet the compensatory grading requirements.   
 
Further, Joey’s firm, Maxwell-Reddick and Associates, studied the floodplain upstream and downstream.  
The firm found that, in their opinion, the floodplain boundaries are incorrect and do not encompass the 
project boundaries.  Maxwell-Reddick has requested a Letter of Map Amendment (LOMA) from the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) which will officially re-delineate the floodplain 
boundaries out of the project area.  This also means the requirements of the Flood Damage Prevention 
Ordinance would no longer apply to this project.  Based on the data provided by Maxwell-Reddick, we 
are confident that FEMA will approve the LOMA; however, that may take several months.  Such a delay 
would postpone the project for at least one year.  City Council approving this variance will allow the 
Engineering Department to legally issue a building permit for this project while the developer awaits 
FEMA’s approval of the LOMA.  If for some unforeseen reason FEMA denies the LOMA, the developer 
has agreed to enlarge the proposed detention basin to comply with the compensatory grading 
requirement.   
 
The Engineering Department recommends the approval of this variance with the condition that the 
developer shall enlarge the proposed detention pond to provide compensatory grading should FEMA 
deny the LOMA.  If you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact one of us.   
 
Attachments: Request for Variance Letter from Joey Maxwell 
  Supporting Exhibits 



 
 
 
 
 
January 7, 2013 
 
David Hendrix 
Assistant City Engineer 
City of Statesboro 
P.O. Box 348 
Statesboro, GA 30459 
 
RE:  VILLAGE AT MIDTOWN  

SOUTH COLLEGE STREET 
STATESBORO, GA 

 
Dear Mr. Hendrix, 
 
Maxwell-Reddick and Associates, Inc. respectfully requests a variance of the 
compensatory grading requirement of the City of Statesboro’s Flood Damage Prevention 
Ordinance for the above referenced site located along South College Street.  According to 
Flood Insurance Rate Map Number 13031C0216D, effective date August 5, 2010, the 
subject property is located in flood zone AE, which is that area located within the limits 
of the 100 year flood and has a base flood elevation established (see the attached FIRM 
map).  For this property, the base flood elevation established is 206.00 near South 
College Street and 205.00 near U.S. Highway 301.  The majority of the property is 
located at or above elevation 207.00, with exception of the drainage ditches located on 
the site (see the attached topographical map).   
 
Maxwell-Reddick and Associates, Inc. has performed a flood study on the subject 
property and has produced a HECRAS model of the drainage canal to calculate the base 
flood elevation based on the actual topography of the property.  The results of this study 
show the flood elevation is actually 206.40, which is 0.4’ above the current base flood 
elevation, but still lower than the elevation of the property.  The developer, Hendley 
Properties, LLC, is currently seeking a Letter of Map Amendment (LOMA) from FEMA 
to correctly locate the limits of the flood plain along the 206.40 elevation on the property.  
This LOMA would remove the proposed development from the flood plain and would 
eliminate the need to provide any compensatory grading, elevation certificates, or flood 
insurance.  However, obtaining the LOMA from FEMA does take considerable time, and, 
if the developer is required to halt construction until after the LOMA is obtained, then the 
project would be delayed at least one year. 
 
Over the years, a portion of this site has been filled with deleterious materials.  Due to the 
existing subsurface conditions of the site, it is not feasible to lower the grade of the site to 
meet the compensatory grading requirement of the City’s ordinance without causing the 



developer to incur expenses for undercutting this material and replacing it with suitable 
material.  Such expense would exceed the budget for this development and would render 
the project financially infeasible.  To avoid this issue, the development will be built 
above the existing grade in order to eliminate the need for any undercutting.  
 
Should FEMA deny the developer’s request for a LOMA, then the proposed detention 
pond and existing ditches on the site will be expanded and deepened in order to provide 
the required compensatory grading.  Also, the finished floor elevations of the buildings 
would be set a minimum of 1’ above the current base flood elevation to meet the City’s 
ordinance. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Charles J. Maxwell, P.E. 
 



triggs
Line

triggs
Line

triggs
Line

triggs
Line

triggs
Line

triggs
Callout
SUBJECT PROPERTY



DESIGNED: CHECKED:DRAWN BY:

DATE: JAN. 08, 2013

JOB NO.: 2012-037

SCALE: AS SHOWN

JVM THR CJM

G
EN

ER
A

L 
N

O
TIC

E:
   

  C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
RS

, S
UB

C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
RS

, V
EN

D
O

RS
 A

N
D

 S
UP

PL
IE

RS
A

RE
 A

D
V

IS
ED

 T
HA

T 
TH

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
T 

D
O

C
UM

EN
TS

 C
O

N
SI

ST
 O

F 
EN

G
IN

EE
R 

PR
IN

TE
D

,
BO

UN
D

 A
N

D
 N

UM
BE

RE
D

 S
PE

C
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

S,
 A

RC
HI

TE
C

T/
EN

G
IN

EE
R 

PR
IN

TE
D

 , 
BO

UN
D

A
N

D
 N

UM
BE

RE
D

 B
LU

E 
O

R 
BL

A
C

K 
LI

N
E 

PR
IN

TS
, A

D
D

EN
D

A
, P

O
ST

 A
D

D
EN

D
A

, A
N

D
C

HA
N

G
E 

O
RD

ER
S 

O
N

LY
.  

D
O

C
UM

EN
TS

 R
EP

RO
D

UC
ED

 B
Y 

PA
RT

IE
S 

O
TH

ER
 T

HA
N

 T
HE

EN
G

IN
EE

R,
 W

HE
TH

ER
 IN

 H
A

RD
 C

O
PY

 O
R 

EL
EC

TR
O

N
IC

 F
O

RM
A

T,
 S

HA
LL

 N
O

T 
BE

C
O

N
SI

D
ER

ED
 P

A
RT

 O
F 

TH
E 

C
O

N
TR

A
C

T 
D

O
C

UM
EN

TS
 A

N
D

 D
O

 N
O

T 
SU

PE
RS

ED
E 

TH
E

PR
O

V
IS

IO
N

S 
O

F 
TH

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
T 

D
O

C
UM

EN
TS

.  
TH

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R,
 S

UB
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R,
V

EN
D

ER
S 

A
N

D
 S

UP
PL

IE
RS

 A
RE

 S
O

LE
LY

 R
ES

PO
N

SI
BL

E 
FO

R 
V

ER
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

 T
HA

T
IN

FO
RM

A
TIO

N
 U

TIL
IZ

ED
 IN

 B
ID

D
IN

G
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

O
F 

SH
O

P 
D

RA
W

IN
G

S,
 A

N
D

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 O
F 

TH
E 

FA
C

IL
ITY

 A
RE

 ID
EN

TIC
A

L 
TO

 T
HE

 C
O

N
TR

A
C

T 
D

O
C

UM
EN

TS
.

C
O

PY
RI

G
HT

 ©
 2

01
2 

BY
 M

A
XW

EL
L-

RE
D

D
IC

K 
A

N
D

 A
SS

O
C

IA
TE

S 
A

LL
 R

IG
HT

S 
RE

SE
RV

E.

ST
A

TE
SB

O
RO

, G
A

SO
UT

H 
C

O
LL

EG
E 

ST
RE

E
RA

Y 
HE

N
D

LE
Y

OF  2 SHEETS

REVISIONS:

DRAWING NUMBER

S

1.0
1

EX
IS

TIN
G

 F
LO

O
D

 P
LA

IN



DESIGNED: CHECKED:DRAWN BY:

DATE: JAN. 08, 2013

JOB NO.: 2012-037

SCALE: AS SHOWN

JVM THR CJM

G
EN

ER
A

L 
N

O
TIC

E:
   

  C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
RS

, S
UB

C
O

N
TR

A
C

TO
RS

, V
EN

D
O

RS
 A

N
D

 S
UP

PL
IE

RS
A

RE
 A

D
V

IS
ED

 T
HA

T 
TH

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
T 

D
O

C
UM

EN
TS

 C
O

N
SI

ST
 O

F 
EN

G
IN

EE
R 

PR
IN

TE
D

,
BO

UN
D

 A
N

D
 N

UM
BE

RE
D

 S
PE

C
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

S,
 A

RC
HI

TE
C

T/
EN

G
IN

EE
R 

PR
IN

TE
D

 , 
BO

UN
D

A
N

D
 N

UM
BE

RE
D

 B
LU

E 
O

R 
BL

A
C

K 
LI

N
E 

PR
IN

TS
, A

D
D

EN
D

A
, P

O
ST

 A
D

D
EN

D
A

, A
N

D
C

HA
N

G
E 

O
RD

ER
S 

O
N

LY
.  

D
O

C
UM

EN
TS

 R
EP

RO
D

UC
ED

 B
Y 

PA
RT

IE
S 

O
TH

ER
 T

HA
N

 T
HE

EN
G

IN
EE

R,
 W

HE
TH

ER
 IN

 H
A

RD
 C

O
PY

 O
R 

EL
EC

TR
O

N
IC

 F
O

RM
A

T,
 S

HA
LL

 N
O

T 
BE

C
O

N
SI

D
ER

ED
 P

A
RT

 O
F 

TH
E 

C
O

N
TR

A
C

T 
D

O
C

UM
EN

TS
 A

N
D

 D
O

 N
O

T 
SU

PE
RS

ED
E 

TH
E

PR
O

V
IS

IO
N

S 
O

F 
TH

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
T 

D
O

C
UM

EN
TS

.  
TH

E 
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R,
 S

UB
C

O
N

TR
A

C
TO

R,
V

EN
D

ER
S 

A
N

D
 S

UP
PL

IE
RS

 A
RE

 S
O

LE
LY

 R
ES

PO
N

SI
BL

E 
FO

R 
V

ER
IF

IC
A

TIO
N

 T
HA

T
IN

FO
RM

A
TIO

N
 U

TIL
IZ

ED
 IN

 B
ID

D
IN

G
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

O
F 

SH
O

P 
D

RA
W

IN
G

S,
 A

N
D

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TIO
N

 O
F 

TH
E 

FA
C

IL
ITY

 A
RE

 ID
EN

TIC
A

L 
TO

 T
HE

 C
O

N
TR

A
C

T 
D

O
C

UM
EN

TS
.

C
O

PY
RI

G
HT

 ©
 2

01
2 

BY
 M

A
XW

EL
L-

RE
D

D
IC

K 
A

N
D

 A
SS

O
C

IA
TE

S 
A

LL
 R

IG
HT

S 
RE

SE
RV

E.

ST
A

TE
SB

O
RO

, G
A

SO
UT

H 
C

O
LL

EG
E 

ST
RE

E
RA

Y 
HE

N
D

LE
Y

OF  2 SHEETS

REVISIONS:

DRAWING NUMBER

S

2.0
2

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 F

LO
O

D
 P

LA
IN



 

Purchasing 

Memo 
 
 
TO:  Frank Parker, City Manager 
  
FROM: Darren Prather, Purchasing Director 
 
DATE: 1-14-2012 
 
Re:   Recommendation/Copiers and Maintenance Program 
 
The City of Statesboro’s current copier/maintenance contract is set to expire in approximately 
seven months. Recently, the Bulloch County Board of Education conducted a request for 
proposals for these services. Although we have extremely good pricing, the contract held by the 
Board of Education is even more advantageous due to the volume of copiers they utilize which is 
in excess of one hundred (100) units. It is due to this volume that the City of Statesboro would 
benefit from “piggy-backing” this contract. We can obtain this volume pricing and apply it to our 
fourteen (14) copier total thereby saving hundreds of dollars per a month. In addition to receiving 
even better pricing, all of our current machines will be upgraded as to their options and page per 
minute capabilities. This contract will be for a five year (5) period and the only difference being 
that, by state law, the Board of Education can opt out for any reason and the City will be able to 
opt out due to funding shortages only. All pricing for equipment is based on a fifty percent (50%) 
off manufacturer’s suggested retail pricing and the maintenance portion is listed on the following 
page. Please see a copy of the contract with the Board of Education contained in the following 
pages. Obviously, their totals are higher on the Board of Education’s contract due to their high 
number of copiers, but our contract would contain the same percentage discounts and 
maintenance costs per page. Maintenance includes service and toner to be supplied.  
 
Due to the fact that the City of Statesboro will receive an even better contractual price than our 
current contract and the service currently provided by Digital Office Equipment has been 
superior, I recommend the City of Statesboro award a copier service and maintenance contract to 
Digital Office Equipment for a sixty (60) month period. If approved, Digital Office will pay off 
our current contract with the third-party lease company and finance the new contract in-house as 
they currently do for the Board of Education. This contract, if approved, will mirror the contract 
with the Bulloch County Board of Education. The City of Statesboro is permitted to “piggy-back” 
other governmental contracts per our Cooperative Purchases Ordinance (Section 2.2.7). In 
addition, this is a local business and has provided excellent service on many projects performed 
by our IT Department.  



Current Copy Machine Contract

No. of Units Cost per Month Maint. Qtr/Mth Total per Month

14 $2,026.33 $1,159.99 /$386.66 $2,412.99

Note: The maintenance is based on 210,000 copies per quarter and color at $.0699 per copy

New Contract to be "piggy-backed" from the Bulloch County Board of Ed.

14 $1,851.12 $1,005.90 /$335.30 $2,186.42

Note: The maintenance amounts above are projected on our current usage in order to    
If the usage increases our savings will increase as the new rates per copy are low
Color copies are in addition to the totals above, but since the color rate is lower w    
that cost will decrease as well.
The new copiers will have higher per minute speeds and have increased features    
These new copiers will eliminate several fax machines and fax lines we currently 
All pricing will be based on the contract with the Bulloch County Board of Ed.
These numbers may varying due to options both added and deleted.



               y

             compare the new rates.
               wer.

                with this new contract,

            s than our current ones.
             use.







 
 
 
 

Resolution 2013-02 
 

Resolution Calling for Revision of Hotel/Motel Tax Law 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro, Georgia levies an excise tax of 5% upon the 
value of the rentals of public lodgings pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 48-13-51 (a) (3); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council have determined that additional funding is 
needed to promote and market the City of Statesboro and tourism development; 
specifically, the City has determined that funding needed enhancements of the planned 
Shooting Sports Education Center to be constructed on the campus of Georgia Southern 
University will generate substantial tourism and thereby increase revenues in our local 
hotel, dining establishments and other businesses; 
 
 WHEREAS, additional funds for such purposes could be realized by increasing the 
excise tax rate charged for public lodgings within the City to 6%, and providing that the 
1% increase in said tax be allocated for the purposes stated. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT AND IT HEREBY IS RESOLVED, by the Mayor 
and Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, that this resolution be delivered to all state 
legislators representing the City of Statesboro as a request to said legislators to introduce 
legislation in the current session of the legislature that would amend O.C.G.A. § 48-13-51 
as needed to provide for the levy of a 6% excise tax upon the value of the rentals of public 
lodgings within the City.    
  

ADOPTED AND APPROVED, this ________ day of ________________, 2013 
 

 
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Joe R. Brannen, Mayor 



Page 2 
Resolution 2013-02 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________  _______________________________ 
Phil Boyum, District One    Gary Lewis, District Two 
 
 
 
______________________________  _______________________________ 
Will Britt, Mayor Pro-tem, District Three  John Riggs, District Four 
 
 
 
______________________________   
Travis Chance, District Five 
 
 
 
        
 
ATTESTED TO: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 














	01-15-2013 Council Agenda
	01-03-2013 council minutes
	2013-01 Election Resolution
	2013-Surplus of 1997 Ford F800 Loader Truck
	2013- daniel long =-alcohol
	2013-special event
	2013-AN_12-12-06_STAFF_REPORT_AMENDED
	2013-AN_12-09-01_STAFF_REPORT_AMENDED
	2013-SE 12-11-01_302 Johnson Street_Staff Report_AMENDED
	2013-RZ 12-12-01 Staff Report_AMENDED
	2013-AN 12-12-02_AN 12-12-03_AN 12-12-05_Staff Report_AMENDED
	2013 MEMO - Village at Midtown Floodplain Variance
	2013-RAYMIDTOWN FLOOD PLAIN EXHIBITS
	2013-1 Copier Contract Rec
	2013-2 Copy of 2012 Copier Contract Amts
	Sheet1

	2013-3-- copy contract BOEt
	2013-02 Resolution hotel motel tax increase  II
	2013-Hearing Notice Gracious Development LLC and Lanika Walden



